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PORT AUTHORITY OF NSW HERITAGE INVENTORY 
State Heritage Inventory  

SHI Number: 4560018 Study Number: N/A 

Item Name: Moore’s Wharf Building 

Location: Towns Place/Corner Dalgety Street, Millers Point 

Address: 4 Towns Place, Millers Point DUAP Region: Sydney South 

Suburb / Nearest Town: Millers Point, 2000 Historic Region: Sydney 

Local Govt Area: City of Sydney Parish: St. Philip 

State: NSW County: Cumberland 

Other/Former Names: The MSB Survey Building 

Area/Group/Complex: Group ID: 

Aboriginal Area: Gadigal clan 

Curtilage/Boundary: The heritage curtilage is defined as the building envelope and does not include the 

wider area of the lot boundaries.  

Item Type: Built Group: Maritime Industry Category: Warehouse/storage 

Owner: Port Authority of New South Wales 

Current Use: Maritime operations office spaces 

Former Uses: Warehouse 

Assessed Significance: State Endorsed Significance: Local 

Statement of Significance:  

The Moore’s Wharf Building is a Victorian period warehouse (c.1836-1837, relocated from 1980) and 

exhibits the Colonial Georgian architectural style. It is able to provide evidence of the development of 

maritime infrastructure in NSW during the early Victorian period, and the role of the Miller’s Point area for 

maritime trade activities. More specifically, the construction of the Moore’s Wharf Building demonstrates 

the growth in commercial traffic and the overall increase in need for commercial storage, for goods 

shipped from overseas, for the Millers Point area, Sydney and wider New South Wales. The historical 

evidence suggests that Moore’s Wharf was one of the oldest wharves within Sydney Harbour and was a 

highly popular and well-utilised wharf, for maritime activities during the 19th century. The use of the wharf 

for key trade activities indicates its wider relevance within the NSW context.  

Due to the large-scale redevelopment of the area, the building was meticulously dismantled and 

reconstructed from 1980 to the north-east of its original location, albeit in the original waterside setting of 

the building. This is a rare and successful example of the accurate reconstruction of a historical masonry 

building during the second half of the 20th century.  

The Moore’s Wharf Building has strong associations with Mr. Henry Moore, son of Joseph Moore, both of 

whom were early merchants. They purchased the subject building shortly after construction and the 

place was known as Moore’s Wharf from 1840 onwards. Henry Moore was a prominent political figure 

during the 19th century. He was appointed to the Upper House of the NSW Legislative Council in 1866. 

From 1876-1888, Henry Moore resided at Strickland House and was a well-known social figure. Henry 

Moore is considered to be an important figure who contributed to the early history of NSW in the 
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development of maritime trade, and he has a strong, and direct, association with the Moore’s Wharf 

building.  

The Moore’s Wharf building has landmark features and has a commanding presence from Sydney 

Harbour, to the Millers Point area. It is aesthetically significant as a Victorian period building which 

follows a simple utilitarian style, which was common during the period for warehouse buildings of this 

type. There are some industrial relics remaining on the site, including the hoist beams on the gable 

frontages and the hoisting system to the eastern elevation which facilitate interpretation of the original 

function of the building.   

Historical Notes or Provenance: 

In 1807, James Meehan surveyed and prepared a map of Sydney, and settlement began to extend 

towards Millers Point. By 1830, land comprising the original subject site was granted to William Long and 

James Wright. Long was a spirit merchant and Wright being a wealthy brewer. Together, under their 

merchant and shipping firm of Wright & Long, they had purchased much of the north side of Dawes Point 

by 1831 (Holcombe 2014). The Moore's Wharf Store was built of local sandstone (quarried on - site) in 

1836 -37 by William Long and James Wright; however, their estate was sold shortly thereafter in public 

auction on 20 November 1837 after their partnership dissolved, and the estate was declared bankrupt 

(Holcomb 2008). It was sold to Captain Joseph Moore and his son Henry who, in the early 1840's, added 

a fourth segment at the western end of the store to accommodate their expanding business. Joseph and 

Henry had established a lucrative Sydney merchant and ship-owning partnership, and they owned and 

operated a large fleet of South Sea whalers, as well as a merchant house trading in tea, sugar and other 

commodities. During the 19th century the store was the scene of many first occasions. In 1851 the clipper 

"Phoenician loaded the first shipment of Australian gold to England from Moore's wharf. The colony's first 

rail locomotive was unloaded there in 1855. (MSB Brochure 1981) For over 60 years Moore's Wharf was 

one of the busiest on the point and it was not until the early 1900's that Moore's Road was renamed 

Dalgety Road. (S Fitzgerald& C Keating 1991).  

By the 1850s, Henry was the local Director for the London Chartered Bank of Australia and agent for the 

London and Oriental Steam Transit Insurance Company. In 1852, Henry became the agent for the 

Peninsular and Oriental (P&O) Steam Navigation Company and remained in this position until 1880, with 

slight intervals. In the same year, the first P&O screw steamship to arrive from England, the "Chusan" 

berthed there with the first mails brought out under contract. In 1866, Henry was appointed to the Upper 

House of the New South Wales Legislative Council and later retired in Strickland House, also known as 

Carrara, where he was highly regarded in the local community as a prominent social and political figure.  

By 1900, the bubonic plague had reached Sydney and infiltrated much of The Rocks, Millers Point and 

Darling Harbour. Disinfection of these areas began in March, with much of the focus placed on the 

wharves and ports of Sydney. A land resumption scheme under the Darling Harbour Wharves Resumption 

Act 1900 and the Sydney Harbour Trust was established in 1901. This led to the resumption of the city’s 

port into the ownership of the New South Wales Government. From 1936, the wharf came under the 

coordination of the Maritime Services Board of NSW.  

In 1978 redevelopment plans at Darling Harbour necessitated plans to relocate the building. The Maritime 

Service’s Board let a contract for $680,000 to take down the building stone by stone, and reconstruct it 50 

yards north-east across the dock facing Walsh Bay, supervised by architects Fox and Associates. It was 

relocated from 1980 and reopened in 1981. The Moore’s Wharf building currently houses a marine 

operations base for Port Authority of NSW as well as office space. 

Themes: Australian Theme: NSW Theme: Local 

Theme: 

(none) 
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3. Developing local, 

regional and national 

economies 

Industry – Activities associated with the 

manufacture, production and distribution of 

goods.  

3.  Developing local, 

regional and national 

economies 

Transport – Activities associated with the 

moving of people and goods from one place to 

another, and systems for the provision of such 

movements. 

(none) 

 9. Marking the Phases of 

Life 

Persons – Activities of, and associations with, 

identifiable individuals, families and communal 

groups 

(none) 

Designer: Unknown 

Maker / Builder: William Long and James Wright 

Year Started: 1836 Year Completed: 1837 

Note – Relocated from 1980 (reopened 1981)  

Circa: No 

Physical Description:  

The subject building is a Victorian period warehouse (c.1836-1837, relocated from 1980) and follows the 

Colonial Georgian architectural style. It is comprised of three rectangular bays. The building as a whole is 

orientated to the east towards the water, however it presents its primary façade towards the west which 

facilitates the primary entrance. It exhibits a locally quarried sandstone masonry envelope which acts as 

the structural skin of the building. The sandstone can be identified as a type of Hawkesbury Sandstone, 

colloquially known as “Yellow Block” whereby the oxidation process results in the characteristic golden 

hue of the stone. The sandstone masonry units feature a light chisel pick on the surface and the mortar 

appears to generally be lime-based.  

Each individual rectangular bay features a well-hipped roof and presents a central gable frontage to both 

the eastern and western façades. The entire roof form is covered in slate tiling, with likely galvanized steel 

or lead for the ridges and valleys. There are timber eaves, barge boards and soffit board panels. The 

rainwater system features copper half-round gutter, rainwater heads and circular downpipes. From each 

central gable front (there are six in total), there is a protruding timber beam, which was a functional item 

for hoisting heavy objects vertically up the face of the building. At each gable frontage, there is a large 

vertical opening which features a line of timber doors with glazed panels.  

The fenestration to the building follows a continuous and symmetrical pattern across all three bays. Each 

window features a sandstone sill and lintel. The second floor features smaller, square shaped windows 

whilst the ground and first floor features vertically proportioned windows. The windows are timber 

framed casement windows. There have been steel security grilles introduced over the windows set into 

the stone lintel and sill.  

To the eastern façade, there are three sets of timber fire stairs. To the western façade, there is a hoisting 

system centrally located.  

The interiors of the building are largely dated to the last decades, considering the major refurbishment in 

c.1978 following the relocation of the building. This was required to convert the subject building into 

offices and, as a result, there is no physical evidence of the original floor plan. As such, the furnishings of 

the building are generally contemporary in nature and plasterboard partitions, suspended panel ceilings, 

carpeted flooring, modern bathroom/kitchen fittings, fluorescent light fittings and services can be readily 

observed throughout. The floor plan has been altered since 1980, although not dramatically. Changes 

include the reconfiguration of internal partitions and the change in location of some internal staircases.  
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The structural skin of the sandstone masonry remains exposed internally, including the internal party 

walls between the individual bays. The historical evidence suggests that structural elements, besides the 

sandstone masonry, were relocated. This aligns with the physical on site which suggests that there are 

some original timber beams and storey posts throughout the building. There is a mixture of connection 

types on these elements – including square and hexagonal steel bolts – which indicate different periods. 

The roof frame is a simple truss system, and the timber rafters and tie beams generally appear to be 

recent additions to the building.  

Physical Condition: The Moore’s Wharf Building appears to be in generally good condition and has been 

well maintained. 

Modification Dates:  

1978 – The building was planned for relocation, involving the numbering of all stone units, to its new 

position at the western end of Walsh Bay overlooking the new wharf area (The fourth segment of the 

building built in the 1840s was not reconstructed as its stonework had deteriorated beyond repair. (MSB 

Brochure 1981) 

1980 – The building was relocated, stone by stone. The corrugated iron roofing was replaced with shingle 

to replicate the original. It was then internally refurbished for customs and delivery officers and amenities 

for port workers (Anglin 1990:1048). 

1981 – The building reopened.  

1985 – Services and amenities upgrades 

1992 – Further alterations to amenities 

2002 – Changes to partitions and doors 

2007-9 – Installation of fire safety equipment and other services 

2010 – Internal modifications to amenities, partitions, flooring, lighting 

2014 – Interior timber replaced 

2016 – Air conditioner unit replacement and roof refurbishment (shingle roofing was replaced with a slate 

tiled roof) 

2019 – In-ground diesel fuel tank on the northern end of Moore’s Wharf was replaced with an above 

ground tank 

Recommended Management:  

The overall form of the building should be conserved in full, with very little tolerance for change to the 

exteriors. All remaining intact exterior fabric should be retained.  

Where external additions are proposed, they should be modest, and any impact to the vistas to and from 

the building, from the harbour or surrounding area should be minimised.   

There is no scope for vertical additions to the building.  

There is tolerance for change to the interiors to facilitate new layouts and refurbishments, provided the 

timber structural elements remain intact. There should be no change to the three bay configuration, or the 

internal party walls.  

A Statement of Heritage Impact should be prepared for all works that has the potential to impact upon 

the heritage values of the place.  

Management: Statutory Instrument 
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Further Comments:  

Criteria a)  

Historical significance  

The Moore’s Wharf building is a notable example of the development of maritime infrastructure in NSW 

and the local area. It was a key location for trade within the 19th century. It is able to provide evidence of 

the development of NSW, during the early Victorian period. The construction of the Moore’s Wharf 

Building (c.1836-1837) demonstrates the growth in commercial traffic and the overall increase in need for 

commercial storage, for goods shipped from overseas, for the Millers Point area, Sydney and wider New 

South Wales. The historical evidence suggests that Moore’s Wharf was one of the oldest wharves within 

Sydney Harbour and was a highly popular and well-utilised wharf for maritime activities during the 19th 

century. The use of the wharf for key trade activities - including the first shipment of gold to leave for 

England was loaded from this site to the ship Phoenician in 1851, the first P&O steamship “Chusan” 

arrived here from England in 1852 bringing the first mail to Australia and the first rail locomotive was 

unloaded at the wharf in 1855 – indicates its relevance within the NSW context.  

Due to the large-scale redevelopment of the area, the building was meticulously dismantled and 

reconstructed in 1979 to the north-east of its original location, albeit in the original setting of the building. 

This is a rare and successful example of the accurate reconstruction of a historical building during the 

second half of the 20th century. 

The Moore’s Wharf building demonstrates historical significance at a STATE level.  

Criteria b) Historical association 

The Moore's Wharf Building has strong associations with Mr. Henry Moore, son of Captain Joseph 

Moore, both of whom were early merchants. By 1838, Joseph and Henry had established a lucrative 

Sydney merchant and ship-owning partnership “Moore & Co”. However, Joseph’s own role within the 

company was more so as a silent partner, and there is no evidence that he played an active role in the 

company after its formation and thus his association with the subject building is a loose one.  

Moore & Co owned and operated a large fleet of South Sea whalers, as well as a merchant house trading 

in tea, sugar and other commodities. They also had business links with Magniac, Jardine & Co. of Canton 

and London, Thacker & Co. and Walker & Co. Henry expanded their business further by purchasing part of 

Long and Wright’s estate in 1837. They purchased the subject building shortly after construction and the 

place was known as Moore’s Wharf from 1840 onwards. They were also responsible for constructing the 

fourth bay (now demolished) to the subject building. 

In 1852, Henry became the agent for the Peninsular and Oriental (P&O) Steam Navigation Company and 

remained in this position until 1880, with slight intervals and oversaw the first steam ship “Chusan” which 

hauled alongside Moore’s Wharf.  

Henry Moore was a prominent political figure during the 19th century. He was appointed to the Upper 

House of the NSW Legislative Council in 1866. From 1876-1888, Henry Moore resided at Strickland 

House and was a well-known social figure. Thus, Henry Moore is considered to be an important figure 

who made a contribution to the history of NSW, and he has a direct association with the Moore’s Wharf 

building.   

The Moore’s Wharf building demonstrates historical association significance at a STATE level.  

Criteria c)  Aesthetic/Creative/Technical Significance  

The Moore’s Wharf building has landmark features and has a commanding presence from Sydney 

Harbour, in the Millers Point area.  The use of sandstone masonry, using the locally sourced “Yellow 

Block” stone, provides a connection to the geology of the natural surrounds, notably the outcrop of 
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sandstone in the Barangaroo reserve, a recent construction using local sandstone quarried onsite to 

symbolically recreate a historical landform. Whilst it has landmark features within the immediate area, it’s 

not a unique feature within NSW in terms of its form, character and historical links to early maritime trade 

activities. 

The subject building is a Victorian period warehouse (c.1836-1837, relocated 1979) and follows the 

Colonial Georgian architectural style. It was not designed by a notable architect, and it follows the simple 

utilitarian style, which was common during the period and for buildings of this nature. 

The original construction of the building itself appears to have followed normal and common techniques 

of that period. However, the relocation of the building in c.1979 and the meticulous documentation to 

allow for an accurate reconstruction was an innovative and technical achievement. Whilst this practice 

does not appear to have influenced techniques within the discipline, given that the wholesale relocation of 

a heritage item is not ideal or common practice, this is a notable example whereby it is generally 

considered to be a success. 

The Moore’s Wharf building demonstrates aesthetic/creative/technical significance at a LOCAL level.  

Criteria d) Social, cultural and spiritual significance. The Moore’s Wharf building does not attain the 

requisite standard of this criterion at a local or state level.  

Criteria e) Research Potential. The Moore’s Wharf building does not attain the requisite standard of this 

criterion at a local or state level.  

Criteria f) Rare Significance. 

The subject building was relocated in c.1979 to accommodate large-scale development of the area. The 

building was meticulously documented prior to the relocation, and currently presents an accurate 

depiction of how the building existed in its original context. The relocation of large historical buildings 

was not considered to be common or usual practice at the time (or at the present), and there are very 

limited examples of this occurring within the local area.   

The subject building is a Victorian period warehouse (c.1836-1837, relocated 1979) and follows the 

Colonial Georgian architectural style. It was not designed by a notable architect, and it follows the simple 

utilitarian style, which was common during the period and for buildings of this nature. There are 

numerous examples in the state of Victorian period warehouse buildings, many of which are of a higher 

degree of intactness. However, at a local level, many of these buildings have been lost and early Victorian 

period warehouses are deemed to be rare. 

The Moore’s Wharf building does attain the requisite standard of this criterion at a LOCAL level.  

Criteria g) Representativeness Significance. 

The subject building is a good example of a Victorian period warehouse (c.1836-1837, relocated 1979) 

which follows the Colonial Georgian architectural style. This simple utilitarian style was common during 

the period and for buildings of this nature. Within the local context, the building is considered to be a fine 

example of its type. However, in a state-wide context there are numerous other examples which are finer, 

more intact examples from the period and of this style.  

The subject building exhibits sandstone masonry, which was locally sourced at the site during 

construction. The sandstone is “Yellow Block” sandstone which was a material readily used during the 

Victorian period and quarried locally from a number of locations in Sydney.  

The Moore’s Wharf building does demonstrate representativeness significance at a LOCAL level.   

Integrity / Intactness: The subject building was relocated from its original location in c.1979 to enable 

large-scale redevelopment of the area. As such, the original heritage curtilage of the building has been 

lost in entirety. The immediate setting has also been highly altered, with the exception of the Walsh Bay 
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Wharves which remain extant, although these were constructed half a century after the subject building. 

The subject building, however, is located within the same vicinity of the original site and generally retains 

its waterside aspect, which was a key aspect of its function as a wharf store building.  

The building has been rebuilt meticulously and generally retains its original presentation and key 

characteristics. This includes the sandstone masonry envelope, roof form including gable frontages and 

fenestration pattern. The building represents its original form of only three bays, noting that the fourth 

bay was not reconstructed (although, we note that this was an early addition from 1840). Where original 

fabric has been lost externally, the replacement material has been sympathetic and includes timber 

frames windows and doors, slate roof tiling and copper rainwater goods. There is also surviving evidence 

of original warehouse components and machinery including the timber hoist beams and the hoisting 

system to the eastern elevation.  

The interior has been largely refurbished to accommodate offices, as part of the adaptative reuse of the 

building. Despite this, there appears to be some evidence of original structural elements including timber 

storey posts, beams and lintels.  
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Image: 1 

 

Caption: Moore’s Wharf Building 

Copyright: Port Authority of New South Wales  

Image By: Susan McIntyre-Tamwoy Heritage Consultants 

Image Date: c2004 

Image File: 4560018b1.jpg 
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Image: 2 

 

Caption: Moore’s Wharf Building, eastern facade 

Copyright: Port Authority of New South Wales  

Image By: Nicole Cama - NBRS 

Image Date: 21.09.2022 

Image File: 4560018b2.jpg 
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Image: 3 

 

Caption: Moore’s Wharf Building, southern facade 

Copyright: Port Authority of New South Wales  

Image By: Nicole Cama - NBRS 

Image Date: 21.09.2022 

Image File: 4560018b3.jpg 
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Image: 4 

 

Caption: Moore’s Wharf Building, western facade 

Copyright: Port Authority of New South Wales  

Image By: Nicole Cama - NBRS 

Image Date: 21.09.2022 

Image File: 4560018b4.jpg 
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Image: 5 

 

Caption: Moore’s Wharf Building, looking onto eastern façade from Towns Place 

Copyright: Port Authority of New South Wales  

Image By: Nicole Cama - NBRS 

Image Date: 21.09.2022 

Image File: 4560018b5.jpg 
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Image: 6 

 

Caption: Moore’s Wharf Building, northwest corner, view facing east 

Copyright: Port Authority of New South Wales  

Image By: Nicole Cama - NBRS 

Image Date: 21.09.2022 

Image File: 4560018b6.jpg 
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Image: 7 

 

Caption: Watercolour of Moore's Wharf and warehouses, Millers Point 

Copyright: Out of copyright, courtesy of State Library of New South Wales, DG V1A/26 

Image By: Frederick Garling 

Image Date: 1840s 

Image File: 4560018b7.jpg 
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Image: 8 

 

Caption: ‘Shipping Horses for the Government of India at Millers Point Wharf’ [watercolour] 

Copyright: Out of copyright, courtesy of State Library of New South Wales, DG SV1A/9 

Image By: Frederick Garling 

Image Date: 1847 

Image File: 4560018b8.jpg 
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Image: 9 

 

Caption: Wharves at Millers Point, Walsh Bay, Sydney (detail) showing the stores and a dwelling and 

goods shed in front, facing the harbour 

Copyright: Out of copyright, courtesy of National Library of Australia, MAP F 866 

Image By:  

Image Date: c1840s – 1850s 

Image File: 4560018b9.jpg 
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Image: 10 

 

Caption: View of the warehouses &c. in Moore's Wharf, Sydney 

Copyright: Out of copyright, courtesy of National Library of Australia, PIC Volume 6A #S1412 

Image By: Walter G Watson 

Image Date: 1857 

Image File: 4560018b10.jpg 

 

  



 

https://portauthoritynsw.sharepoint.com/sites/ThePESHPod/Shared Documents/Heritage/Moore's Wharf Heritage Significance Assessment 

2024/Reporting/S170_SHI Form_Moores Wharf_Final_June24.docx  
PAGE 19 OF 23 

Image: 11 

 

Caption: Moore’s Wharf Building reconstruction 

Copyright: R.J. Lampert and M.C. Trustcott in ‘Archaeological investigation of the Bond Store, Moore's 

Wharf: a draft report for the Maritime Services Board and the Heritage Council of NSW’, 1984 

Image By: R.J. Lampert and M.C. Trustcott 

Image Date: c1980 

Image File: 4560018b11.jpg 

 

  



 

https://portauthoritynsw.sharepoint.com/sites/ThePESHPod/Shared Documents/Heritage/Moore's Wharf Heritage Significance Assessment 

2024/Reporting/S170_SHI Form_Moores Wharf_Final_June24.docx  
PAGE 20 OF 23 

Image: 12 

 

Caption: The Honourable Henry Moore. Illustration for Australian Men of Mark illustrated with Authentic 

Portraits, Vol I 

Copyright: New South Wales Parliamentary Archives 

Image By: Charles F Maxwell 

Image Date: 1888 

Image File:  
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Image: 13 

 

Caption: 1943 aerial view of the Moore’s Wharf Building, prior to relocation 

Copyright: NSW Government Spatial Services 

Image By: NSW Government Spatial Services 

Image Date: 1943 
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https://portauthoritynsw.sharepoint.com/sites/ThePESHPod/Shared Documents/Heritage/Moore's Wharf Heritage Significance Assessment 

2024/Reporting/S170_SHI Form_Moores Wharf_Final_June24.docx  
PAGE 22 OF 23 

Image: 14 

 

Caption: Image of the Moore’s Wharf Building prior to its relocation  

Copyright: City of Sydney Archives 

Image By: Image located within Sydney Reference Collection (SRC) – photographer not specified  

Image Date: Between 1st January 1980 and 31st January December 1989 
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Caption: Moore’s Wharf Building Curtilage Plan 

Copyright: Port Authority of New South Wales 

Image By: Port Authority of New South Wales 

Image Date: 14/03/2023 
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